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7.1: Meros-Beam House CONTRIBUTING RESOURCE COUNT: 1

The Meros-Beam house is located on the east side of the Oxford Road, south of
Hatherleigh Road, in the original section of the subdivision of Stoneleigh. Stoneleigh
lies on the east side of York Road, approximately one-half mile north of the 1918
Baltimore City Line. The siting of the house conforms with the community setbacks, and
the lot's grade above the road elevation contributes to the building's massive and
imposing appearance.

The Spanish Eclectic dwelling was constructed in the late 1920's of concrete
block construction with strongly textured stucco exterior walls and a green, straight-
barrel mission tile roof on the main block and all extensions. It is two-storied,
symmetrical, three-bay and side-gabled with many elements of the contemporary Tudor
style. There are double stucco chimneys with flared caps centered on each gable, a
central two-story projecting bay in the front, an off-center two-story wing on the rear,
and symmetrical porches on each end. Board and batten shutters which flank all double-
hung sash have been removed by the current owner for refinishing prior to re-hanging.

The principal facade faces west, toward the road. The arched and paneled wood
entrance door with a leaded glass light in one of the panels is located in the central bay
projection and accentuated by three elliptical arches supported by two Doric columns
forming a covered entryway. There is also a single arch without columns on the north and
south facades of the entryway. A double casement window on the second floor is capped
by a pair of arched recesses; this is set into a larger arched niche mimicking the first
floor entrance and further enhanced by a wrought iron false balcony railing..

Rectangular recessed panels flank the casement. 6/6 windows are centered in the
remaining bays on each floor of the main block. The facade of the open porch on the
north end repeats the three elliptical arches supported by the same Doric columns of the
entrance. The street facade of the enclosed sun porch on the south end repeats the three-
arched pattern with the larger center arch containing an arched double casement window
and flanked with arched recesses similar to the rectangular recesses on the second floor
of the front projection. These three arched features are further enhanced by wood raised
panel inserts below.

The north facade of the main block is two bays wide; two casement doors are
located in the western bay on the first floor and 6/6 windows above in each bay on the
second floor. Two gable vents flank the chimney. The most imposing feature of the
north facade is the open porch with its three arched openings of equal height and size.
The three arches with Doric columns of the open porch's street facade is repeated on its
rear facade. Inside the porch, two rectangular ten-light casement doors access the front
portion of the dwelling.

The asymmetrical east facade is four bays wide with the rear wing located in the
third bay from the south. This wing is one bay wide and deep with two standard-sized
6/6 windows centered on both the south and east facades of the first floor and a six-light-
over-two-panel door located on the north facade which accesses a small porch. A single,
smaller 6/6 window is centered on the second floor rear facade of this wing. The first



BA- 2147

7.2: Meros-Beam House

floor fenestration of the main block consists of a six-light casement window in the
second bay and a small 6/6 window in the fourth (northern) bay. Two rectangular
fifteen-light casement doors which replaced two double sash windows on the first floor's
southernmost bay provide access to the recently added wood deck. Second floor
fenestration consists of 6/6 windows in each of the end bays and an eight-light casement
window in the second bay. A two-car garage with unremarkable overhead doors is
located in the third and fourth bays of the basement level of the wing extension and small
porch. Access to the garage 1s from a downward sloping drive between stuccoed
retaining walls.

The south facade of the main block is partially obscured by the property line
landscaping, but it again repeats the two bay symmetry of the north facade with two 6/6
windows on the second floor and two gable vents flanking the chimney. The prominent
feature on this facade is the summer porch with its three equal-sized arched double
casement windows. The rear facade of this summer porch is a simplified version of the
street facade with only one arched casement window (centered) and no stuccoed recesses
or wood panels.

The interior of the dwelling is laid out with a center stair passage which provides
direct access to all first floor rooms except the rear extension. The back portion of this
center passage provides access to the parlor on the south, a small powder room and a
small closet pantry, and the kitchen on the north east corner of the dwelling. A hanging
electrified light in the entry hall may be original, for it is in keeping with the period of
construction and style of the dwelling. The unbracketed open string staircase has plain
balusters set into a handrail which ends in a graceful spiral to the newel. The railing and
plain balusters continue around the stair opening on the second floor. A pair of square
newel posts with pyramidal caps which are set into the railing define the front end of this
stair opening on the second floor.

The entire south side of the first floor is occupied by the formal parlor which is
entered from the center passage through an unadorned open arch. This room features
on the south wall an uncoursed field stone fireplace with a simple wood mantel and a
keystone and flat arch over the fire box. Two pairs of ten-light casement doors flank the
fireplace and lead to the sunporch. The replacement double casement doors to the rear
deck are flanked by paired built-in wooden-shelves-over-paneled-door cupboards which,
although added since 1990, are compatible with the original construction and finish. A
paneled door leads to the rear of the center passage.

The sunporch is plastered and fully finished with a floor of glazed beige 4"
square terra cotta tiles with random insertions of four 1" tiles of brilliant blue. The
current owner advises that the radiator which provides heat to this room has been
temporarily disconnected pending repair.

The north side of the first floor is occupied by two rooms, the dining room and the
kitchen. The larger room used for dining is located in the front of the dwelling and has
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three entrances: an unadorned open arch from the center passage, a conventional swing
door from the room to the rear, and a double ten-light casement door to the open
flagstone porch on the north facade. A replacement brass colonial chandelier hangs in
the center of the room.

The smaller room in the rear of the north side contains the kitchen. The current
owner has recently renovated this room which had been previously modified in late 1940-
50. During the most recent modification, two small single casement windows on the
north wall were eliminated to facilitate room layout. The exterior walls have been re-
stuccoed to blend with the original construction. A small room occupies the rear wing
and contains a built-in corner cupboard with a rounded arch glass door over a raised
panel lower door. The entry into this room was widened during the recent kitchen
renovation and the flooring in both rooms was replaced. A flagstone open porch is
accessed from this room and forms a portion of the roof of the basement garage.

The center passage, parlor and dining room are surrounded by ogee ceiling
moldings and quirk ogee moldings at the top and bottom of the baseboards. There are
eight original brass electrified candle sconces located on the north and south walls of the
dining room and parlor, two on each wall. There are dark stained oak floors in the
public rooms of the first floor and pine floors covered by "wall to wall" carpeting on the
second floor. All interior doors are original and consist of one large panel with enriched
moldings, are currently darkly stained natural wood, and many have original glass or
brass knobs. The interior finish where not replaced is a stippled surface on the plaster
walls and ceilings. There are metal ceiling fixtures throughout which date in appearance
to early 1930.

The second floor plan consists of the center passage which accesses four rooms
located in each corner, a small linen closet, and the bath located in the rear wing.. The
principal chamber is located in the southwest corner of the second floor, is the largest of
the four rooms, and contains two small closets. A second bath which is located in the
front center projection is entered from this chamber and consists of the original three
fixtures with original handles as well as an enclosed shower located in the space
allocated for a closet on the original plans. It is unknown when the structural change
was made. A second small chamber is located in the southeast corner of the dwelling
and contains a small closet . The north side of the dwelling is divided into two equal-
sized rooms with closets. The principal bath located in the rear wing contains two
original fixtures and a replacement toilet. The replacement was necessitated by the
destruction caused by a tree falling on the back of the house in the early 1960's. The
original ceramic tile floor in a black and white woven motif is in good condition. A
cedar closet which occupies the remainder of the rear wing is accessed from the
northeast corner chamber.

The attic is accessible through a pull-down stair in the center passage and is full
height at the ridge. It has open beams and exposed block end walls with partial flooring
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over insulation. The central air-conditioning unit is located at the top of the stair
opening.

The cellar is entered through the stairs at the rear of the first floor stair passage
and through the below-grade garage. It consists of three rooms: one which has been
recently renovated located in the northwest corner behind the garage, one being the two-
car garage in the northeast corner, and a room along the entire south side which contains
the utility services for the dwelling -- the original hot water boiler and expansion tank, a
replacement hot water heater, oil tank to fuel the boiler, and laundry tubs. A flush is
located on the eastern foundation at the garage wall.

The exterior grounds consist of low plantings and several large mature trees
which are common in the community. Walkways and exterior steps are flagstone. The at
grade macadam drive from the street on the north end of the lot winds around the side of
the dwelling to the rear garage. There are no outbuildings or additional structures except
for the contemporary play equipment for the use of the current owner's young children.
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8.1: MEROS-BEAM HOUSE.

The Meros-Beam House was constructed toward the latter period of the
Stoneleigh Corporation's development of a suburban tract of land during the post-World
War I building boom. The original plat of Stoneleigh was recorded in 1922 and by mid-
1927, over 100 properties had been completed and occupied. A 1955 article in the
Baltimore Sun cites that 156 homes had been built by 1930, indicating an acceleration of
the building pattern. However, the Stoneleigh Corporation succumbed to the financial
difficulties reflected in the nation's faltering economy and was forced in 1930 to sell
some of the lots at a reduced price and later (in 1931) went into bankruptcy. The Meros-
Beam house was designed by H. A. Stillwell who had been the architect to the Stoneleigh
Corporation, and the blueprints are dated September, 1928.

The political jurisdiction of Baltimore County consists of over 610 square miles
of land which surrounds Baltimore City on 3.5 sides and stretches north to the
Pennsylvania state line. Although there are no incorporated towns or subdivisions within
the county, there are individual place names which usually refer to development plans
and/or previous large homes or industrial features; e.g., Hampton after the home of the
Ridgeleys - Hampton Mansion or Dickeyville after the Dickey Mills which provided
employment to many County residents in the Nineteenth Century.

The community of Stoneleigh derives its name from that of a large family home
built on 230 acres of land originally purchased in 1850 by Robert P. Brown from William
Govane, from which the Govans area of Baltimore City takes its name. Mr. Brown
derived his wealth from his father, Dr. George Brown, who had emigrated to Baltimore
from Ireland and had been the founder of the Baltimore Medical College and the first
president of the University of Maryland's board of regents. Mr. Robert Brown began
construction of the family home in 1852, evidently sparing no expense. He engaged the
services of the Viennese architect John Rudolph Niernsee who had designed other homes
in Baltimore for prominent families. The Robert Taylor Map of 1857 of Baltimore City
and County shows an illustration of a massive Italianate three-story dwelling. It is
interesting to note that the third floor fenestration of both the main block and the large
rear wing of "Stonleigh" are arched on all visible facades, a feature which is mimicked in
the Meros-Beam house. According to photographs in later years, the house remained
essentially as originally designed and was furnished in the highly embellished Victorian
style. The grounds of Stoneleigh were landscaped, formal gardens planted, stables and
tenant houses constructed, and a small lake established for production of ice in winter.
Four generations of the Brown family eventually inhabited the home.

World War I saw large population growth in Baltimore City occasioned by the
influx of workers for the shipyards and the war equipment plants. The York Road had
been laid out in 1799, thus providing a link to the north to Pennsylvania. Omnibuses and
later trolley cars plied the road creating access to the suburbs. The City annexed portions
of the County on several occasions, the latest of which being in 1918 which established
the city line just above Gittings and Walker Avenues. A group of men headed by Irvin
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E. Butler, formerly associated with the development of the exclusive communities of
Roland Park and Guilford in Baltimore City, approached the granddaughter of Robert
Brown who was still living in Stoneleigh House. Miss Mary Leigh Brown, one of three
daughters, never married, and it was from Miss Brown and the other heirs that the
Stoneleigh Corporation purchased 110 acres of the remaining 130 acres and laid out the
development of Stoneleigh. The twenty acres and Stoneleigh House were carved out
and development on the large tract was begun around 1923,

One of the notable characteristics of the development was the retention of the
large trees, an element which is still evident in 1993. The quality of the homes and the
community was considered when the streets were laid out to follow the contours of the
rolling terrain and when the covenants were established on the real estate. The
bankruptcy of the Stoneleigh Corporation threatened the existence of the restrictions and
the Stoneleigh Community Association was created to assume the responsibility for
those covenants. The original ice pond was translated into a swimming pool for the
community, a feature that was touted in marketing brochures in the 1920's. With the
foreclosure by the bank on the assets of the Stoneleigh Corporation, including the pool,
the Association was faced with the need to determine the desires of the community
regarding the continuance of the pool. A resounding affirmation of desirability of the
pool was confirmed by the successful sale of bonds to purchase the pool and its
immediate surroundings from the mortgagee, a purchase that also saw the release of a
few overlooking homesites for construction. Residents over the years have continued to
enjoy the pool and have rallied when needed to rebuild the pool house destroyed by fire
and to employ guards and maintenance personnel to assure the quality of enjoyment as
originally designed.

The community and the surrounding vicinity was growing so rapidly that in 1929,
Baltimore County erected the Stoneleigh public school on a large lot behind the
Stoneleigh House on the eastern edge of the development. That elementary school and
its related athletic fields are still intact and utilized by the residents of Stoneleigh and the
neighboring developments to its north and east.

When Miss Brown died at age 85 in 1952, she bequeathed Stoneleigh House, then
102 years old, to three grand-nieces and a great-nephew as well as a sum of money to
two other great nephews. The executor was authorized to sell the House if necessary to
complete settlement of the estate. The remaining portion of the Stoneleigh Estate Tract
was thus sold and the House was razed in 1956. This second section of Stoneleigh was
then developed with homes which retained the quality of the original development even
though the designs were of 1950 contemporary versions. The towering trees of the
original tract were retained wherever possible and these large, mature hardwoods
continue to be a distinguishing feature of the entire area.
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Land Records of Baltimore County. Located in the Courts Building, Bosley and
Chesapeake Avenues, Towson, Maryland 21204.

Mullikin, James C. "A Brief History of Stoneleigh." Prepared for the Stoneleigh

Community Association and printed in conjunction with their Association's
Yearbook. Date unknown.

Hahn, H. George and Carl Behm IIl. Towson A Pictorial History of a Maryland Town.
Norfolk, Virginia: Donning Co., 1977. pp 38-9.

Brooks, Neal A. and Richard Parsons. Baltimore County Panorama. Towson, Maryland:
Baltimore County Public Library, 1988. p. 281.

Brooks, Neal A. and Eric Rockel. The History of Baltimore County. Towson, Maryland.
Baltimore County Public Library, 1978.

Meros, Anita L. and Stanley C. Current owner of property. 7115 Oxford Road,
Baltimore, Maryland. Interview, 17 November 1993.

Taylor, Robert. "1857 Map of City and County of Baltimore Maryland from Actual
Surveys."

"1898 Atlas for Baltimore City and County." Plate 16.
"1915 Atlas for Baltimore City and County." Plate 17,

"The Stoneleighite." Various issues of community newsletter from 1942 - 1947.
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8629/014 deed dated October 16, 1990. Margaret D. Gable to Stanley C. Meros and
Anita L. Meros, his wife. Being 20' of Lot 4 and Lots 5, 6, and 7 of Block 6 of the Plat of
Stoneleigh (7/87) for $210,000. William A. Gable died 3/17/72.

2495/554 deed dated June 10, 1954. Claude E. Bishop and Claire N. Bishop, his wife to
William S. Gable and Margaret D. Gable, his wife. Being 20' of Lot 4 and Lots 5, 6, and
7 of Block 6 of the Plat of Stoneleigh (7/87) for $33,500.

916/524 deed dated October 20, 1933. Allen W. Beam, Sr. and Amelia S. Beam, his
wife to Claude E. Bishop and Claire N. Bishop, his wife. Being 20' of Lot 4 and Lots 5, 6,
and 7 of Block 6 of the Plat of Stoneleigh (7/87) .

887/235 deed dated October 14, 1931. Stoneleigh Corporation to Allen W. Beam, Sr.
and Amelia S. Beam, his wife. Being 20' of Lot 4 and Lots 5, 6, and 7 of Block 6 of the
Plat of Stoneleigh (7/87) .
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7.7 MEROS-BEAM HOUSE

List of photographs:

1of 12 West elevation

20f 12 Northwest corner of main block with open porch to north
30f12 Northeast corner of main block with open porch to north and rear wing
4 0of 12 East elevation

50f 12 Southeast corner of main block with rear wing

6o0f 12 Southwest corner of main block with sunporch

7 of 12 Southwest corner of main block with front projection
8of 12 Paneled entry door with leaded light

9of 12 Central stair

10 of 12 Fireplace on south wall in parlor

11 of 12 Example of dark-stained interior doors

12 of 12 Light fixture in lower central passage
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Meros-Beam House

7115 Oxford Road, Govans
Towson quadrangle
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